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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Union Health System, Inc. 
Terre Haute, Indiana 
 
Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Union Health System, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries (the System), a nonprofit organization, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net 
assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the System as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the changes in its net assets and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States, and Guidelines for Examination of Entities Receiving Financial 
Assistance from Governmental Sources, issued by the Indiana State Board of Accounts. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the System 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to 
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
 
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the System adopted Financial Accounting 
Standards Board Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Our opinion is not modified 
with respect to this matter. 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the System's ability to 
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are 
available to be issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is substantial likelihood that, individually or in 
the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgement there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the System's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 
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We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The consolidating balance sheets, consolidating statements of operations and changes in net assets, 
and consolidating statements of operations (Union Hospital, Inc. and Subsidiaries) as listed in the 
accompanying table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial 
statements rather than to present the financial position, results of operations and changes in net assets of the 
individual entities, and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. The accompanying 
schedule of property and equipment of mortgagor is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not 
a required part of the consolidated financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is 
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 20, 2023 on 
our consideration of the System’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the System’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the System’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
Indianapolis, Indiana 
April 20, 2023 
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2022 2021
 
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 59,182,558$        81,985,292$        
Patient accounts receivable, net 89,478,151         80,306,704         
Inventories 9,115,172           7,244,733           
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22,725,064         18,717,393         

Total current assets 180,500,945        188,254,122        

Investments limited as to use
Funds held by trustee 20,111,691         18,452,002         
Board designated 217,995,277        249,780,238        

Total investments limited as to use 238,106,968        268,232,240        

Property and equipment
Land and improvements 39,936,775         39,470,258         
Buildings and fixed equipment 430,009,885        426,393,793        
Movable equipment 225,034,992        205,862,015        

694,981,652        671,726,066        
Less allowances for depreciation 416,990,464        391,409,632        

277,991,188        280,316,434        
Construction in progress 2,646,785           7,375,603           

Total property and equipment, net 280,637,973        287,692,037        

Other assets
Due from Union Health Foundation, Inc. 7,280,798           6,541,695           
Investment in joint ventures 4,924,146           5,513,603           
Right-of-use assets under operating leases, net 6,426,432           -0-                     

Total other assets 18,631,376         12,055,298         

Total assets 717,877,262$      756,233,697$      

ASSETS
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2022 2021
 
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 40,828,345$        41,527,472$        
Salaries, wages, and related liabilities 36,650,121         46,904,429         
Estimated third party settlements 16,482,782         14,352,102         
Current portion of long-term debt 11,322,568         11,027,520         
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 1,993,279           -0-                     

Total current liabilities 107,277,095        113,811,523        

Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion 259,585,034        270,384,370        
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 4,433,153           -0-                     
Other long-term liabilities 3,559,290           3,862,190           

Total long-term liabilities 267,577,477        274,246,560        

Total liabilities 374,854,572        388,058,083        

Net assets
Without donor restrictions 333,278,981        359,198,978        
Noncontrolling interests in UHT, LLC 582,598              684,808              

Total net assets without donor restrictions 333,861,579        359,883,786        
With donor restrictions 9,161,111           8,291,828           

Total net assets 343,022,690        368,175,614        

Total liabilities and net assets 717,877,262$      756,233,697$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
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2022 2021
Operating revenue

Net patient service revenue 668,620,784$      611,822,854$      
Other revenue 31,828,126         41,428,374         

Total operating revenue 700,448,910        653,251,228                                                        
Operating expenses

Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 64,233,870         62,328,817         
Other salaries and wages 165,009,941        163,914,681        
Employee benefits 47,253,140         48,757,444         
Medical supplies and drugs 139,357,939        132,348,769        
Physician services 37,541,183         29,134,494         
Contract services 96,858,962         76,443,738         
Rent and leases 5,801,604           8,641,584           
Utilities, supplies, and other 56,601,632         42,382,664         
Hospital assessment fee 35,781,306         11,943,889         
Depreciation and amortization 27,453,561         27,083,997         
Interest 10,846,369         11,294,833         

Total operating expenses 686,739,507        614,274,910        

Income from operations 13,709,403         38,976,318         

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment return, net (38,571,170)        21,424,125         
Other (9,839)                1,672,344           

Total non-operating gains (losses) (38,581,009)        23,096,469         

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses (24,871,606)        62,072,787         

Net assets without donor restrictions
Distribution to non-controlling interests (1,276,913)          (1,548,836)          
Net assets released for property and equipment 126,312              -0-                     

Change in net assets without donor restrictions (26,022,207)        60,523,951         

Net assets with donor restrictions
Other changes in receivable from Union Health Foundation, Inc. 995,595              520,244              
Net assets released for property and equipment (126,312)             -0-                     

Change in net assets with donor restrictions 869,283              520,244              

Change in net assets (25,152,924)        61,044,195         

Net assets
Beginning of year 368,175,614        307,131,419        
End of year 343,022,690$      368,175,614$      
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2022 2021
Operating activities

Change in net assets (25,152,924)$       61,044,195$        
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets

to net cash flows from operating activities
Depreciation 27,453,561         25,229,622         
Amortization of intangible asset -0-                     1,854,375           
Amortization of long-term debt issuance costs 380,818              395,327              
Distribution to non-controlling interests 1,276,913           1,548,836           
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment (10,954)              7,809                 
Net realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments 43,733,413         (17,528,985)        
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Patient accounts receivable, net (9,171,447)          (9,113,456)          
Other current and noncurrent assets (6,027,756)          3,905,316           
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (1,633,336)          (309,055)             
Salaries, wages, and related liabilities (10,254,308)        3,968,077           
Estimated third-party payor settlements 2,130,680           (4,313,296)          
Other long-term liabilities (302,900)             3,728,649           

Net cash flows from operating activities 22,421,760         70,417,414         

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (19,473,452)        (23,601,473)        
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 19,118               39,078               
Purchase of investments (13,764,215)        (150,873,868)       
Proceeds from sale of investments 156,074              84,515,444         

Net cash flows from investing activities (33,062,475)        (89,920,819)        

Financing activities
Payments on long-term debt (10,885,106)        (12,456,390)        
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt -0-                     41,416               
Distribution to non-controlling interests (1,276,913)          (1,548,836)          

Net cash flows from financing activities (12,162,019)        (13,963,810)        

Change in cash and cash equivalents (22,802,734)        (33,467,215)        

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 81,985,292         115,452,507        
End of year 59,182,558$        81,985,292$        

Noncash investing and financing activities
Capital acquisitions included in accounts payable 934,209$            1,668,860$         

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest 10,465,551$        10,899,506$        
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1. ORGANIZATION 
 
Nature of Operations 
 
Union Health System, Inc. (UHS), an Indiana nonprofit corporation, is the sole member of Union Hospital, Inc. 
(the Corporation). UHS and the Corporation are each 50% members of Union Associated Physicians Clinic, 
LLC (UAPC). UHS, UAPC, and the Corporation are collectively referred to as the System. The System was 
formed in November 2009 to provide vision and strategic direction in the formation of a regional health care 
system to expand and improve the delivery of health care services in order to meet the health care needs of 
residents in the System’s service area.  
 
The Corporation is an Indiana not-for-profit corporation, which owns and operates Union Hospital  
(the Hospital), a 278 staffed-beds and regional referral center hospital located in Terre Haute, Indiana.  
The Hospital is a full-service, acute-care hospital with medical-surgical, obstetric, pediatric, coronary care, 
post-coronary care, intensive care, maximum care, and medical rehabilitation units. Additionally, as the 
largest hospital in west central Indiana, the Hospital is a referral center for such services as its newborn 
intensive care unit (Level II), open heart surgery, cardiac rehabilitation clinic, radiology, non-invasive 
cardiology services, cardiopulmonary services, and radiation therapy. The Hospital and its related 
consolidated entities provide comprehensive health care services to the residents of Terre Haute and the 
surrounding communities, west central Indiana, and east central Illinois through its acute, specialty care 
facilities, and physician medical practices. 
 
UAPC is an Indiana, not-for-profit, limited liability company, which operates a multi-specialty physician clinic 
and consists of approximately 115 physicians and allied health professionals. 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of UHS, the Corporation, Center for Occupational 
Health (COH), Union Hospital Therapy, LLC (UHT) and UAPC (collectively, the System). Union Hospital Clinton 
is a designated Medicare critical access hospital operating as a division of the Corporation. COH provides 
work related injury care and other occupational medicine services and is also a wholly owned tax-exempt 
subsidiary of the Corporation. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
 
During 2014, UHT was formed for the purpose of providing physical, occupational, and speech therapy, and 
related rehabilitation services. The Corporation ownership interest in UHT is 51%. The Corporation maintains 
substantial participation in the operations of UHT in addition to an economic interest in UHT’s financial 
position. The 49% non-controlling interest is owned by Clinical Management Solutions, LLC. All material 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
 
The System is also related to various organizations principally through overlapping board membership, which 
does not constitute control. These organizations include Union Health Foundation, Inc. (the Foundation), 
Union Hospital Health Services, Inc., and Visiting Nurse Association of the Wabash Valley, Inc. The majority of 
all fund-raising activities are conducted by the Foundation. 
 
Accordingly, unrestricted gifts and bequests received without donor restrictions directly by the System are 
recorded as nonoperating gains. Restricted gifts and bequests received by the Foundation for the benefit of 
the Corporation are recorded by the Corporation as net assets with donor restrictions until expended by the 
System for their intended purpose. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including estimated third-party payor settlements and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates 
also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period and could differ from 
actual results. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three 
months or less when purchased, excluding investments limited as to use. The carrying amounts reported in 
the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value. 
 
Cash in Excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) Limits 
 
During our audit of the System’ financial statements, we noted that the System had deposits in excess of the 
$250,000 FDIC limit per account at one or more financial institutions. Management has indicated that they 
are aware of the excess deposits and have taken steps to mitigate the risk associated with the excess 
deposits.  
 
Patient Accounts Receivable, Net Patient Service Revenue and Estimated Third-Party Settlements 
 
Patient service revenue and the related accounts receivable are recorded at the amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the System expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care.  
These amounts are due from patients, third-party payors (including health insurers and government 
programs), and others, and includes variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to 
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the System bills the patients and third-party 
payors several days after the services are performed or the patient is discharged from the facility. Revenue is 
recognized as performance obligations are satisfied. 
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Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the System. 
Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual charges incurred in 
relation to total expected (or actual) charges. The System believes that this method provides a faithful 
depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on the inputs needed 
to satisfy the obligation. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to patients in the 
System receiving inpatient acute care services or patients receiving services in outpatient centers or in their 
homes. The System measures the performance obligation from admission into the System, or the 
commencement of an outpatient service, to the point when it is no longer required to provide services to 
that patient, which is generally at the time of discharge or completion of the outpatient services. 
 
The method of reimbursement for the System is fee for service. The timing of revenue and recognition for 
healthcare services is transferred over time. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time 
is generally recognized when goods are provided to our patients and customers in a retail setting  
(for example, pharmaceuticals and medical equipment) and the System does not believe it is required to 
provide additional goods or services related to that sale. 
 
Because all of its performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one year, the 
System has elected to apply the optional exemption provided in the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(the FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, is not required to disclose 
the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or 
partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. The unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance 
obligations referred to previously are primarily related to inpatient acute care services at the end of the 
reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally completed when the patients 
are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the end of the reporting period. 
 
The System determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods and services provided, 
reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party payors, discounts provided to uninsured patients 
in accordance with the System's policy, and implicit price concessions provided to uninsured patients.  
The System determines its estimates of contractual adjustments and discounts based on contractual 
agreements, its discount policies, and historical experience. The System determines its estimate of implicit 
price concessions based on its historical collection experience with this class of patients. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories, consisting primarily of medical supplies and pharmaceuticals, are stated at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value and principally valued using the average cost method. 
 
Investments Limited as to Use 
 
Investments limited as to use include investments set aside by the Board of Directors for future capital 
improvements and retirement of debt over which the Board of Directors retains control and may, at its 
discretion, subsequently use for other purposes; and investments held by trustees under bond indenture 
agreements; and donor-restricted funds. Amounts that are required for obligations classified as current 
liabilities, and other amounts previously paid from operating cash that are to be reimbursed by the 
applicable funds, are reported in current assets. 
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Investments limited as to use are generally commingled for investment purposes and consist of common 
stocks, mutual funds, U.S. government obligations, short-term investments (principally money market deposit 
accounts), and private equity funds. 
 
Investments limited as to use are stated at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. Therefore, 
investment return, net includes interest, dividends, investment expenses, realized gains and losses, and 
unrealized gains and losses on investments as part of excess of revenue over expenses. 
 
The fair value of assets is based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market prices are not 
available, fair values are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments. The cost of securities 
sold is based on the specific identification method. 
 
Investment securities are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market volatility. 
Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is reasonably possible that changes in 
the values of the System's investments could occur in the near term and that such changes could materially 
affect the amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements. A critical factor in this evaluation is the 
length of time and extent to which the market value of the individual security has been less than cost.  
Other factors considered include recommendations of investment advisors and conditions specific to the 
issuer or industry in which the issuer operates. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows: land improvements 3 to 30 
years, buildings 5 to 40 years, and equipment 3 to 25 years. The System’s policy is to designate certain 
available net assets without donor restrictions for expansion and renovation. 
 
Equipment under capital lease obligations is amortized on the straight-line method over the lease term or 
the estimated useful life of the equipment, whichever period is shorter. Such amortization is included with 
depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 
Interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the period of construction and other interest costs are 
capitalized as a component of the cost of constructing the assets. Repair and maintenance costs are 
expensed when incurred. 
 
The System periodically evaluates whether circumstances have occurred that would indicate whether the 
remaining estimated useful life of long-lived assets may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of 
such assets may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that such assets should be evaluated for possible 
impairment, an estimate is made of the undiscounted cash flows over the remaining life of the assets in 
measuring whether the asset is recoverable in accordance with accounting standards. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets arising from the purchase of physician practices (primarily non-compete provisions) and 
service lines are carried at cost. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on the 
assets’ estimated useful lives. Intangible assets were fully amortized as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 
 
Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt are amortized using the bonds outstanding 
method, which approximates the amortization under the effective interest rate method and are included in 
interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. The 
unamortized debt issuance costs are included in the consolidated balance sheets as a reduction in related 
long-term debt. 
 
Medical Malpractice Insurance 
 
The System has a self-insurance plan for professional liability insurance. A third-party claims administrator 
has been retained to process all benefit claims. Claims are processed and presented for payment upon 
occurrence. The System makes periodic deposits into a trust fund for the proper administration and 
protection of the fund. 
 
The Indiana Medical Malpractice Act, IC 34-18 (the Act) provides a maximum recovery of $1,800,000 for an 
occurrence of malpractice. The Act requires the System to maintain medical malpractice liability insurance in 
the amount of at least $500,000 per occurrence and $15,000,000 in the annual aggregate. 
 
The Act also requires the System to pay a surcharge to the State Patient’s Compensation Fund (the Fund). 
The Fund is used to pay medical malpractice claims in excess of per occurrence and the annual aggregate 
amounts as noted above, under certain terms and conditions. No accrual for possible losses attributable to 
incidents that may have occurred but that have not been identified has been made because the amount, if 
any, is not reasonably estimable. The Fund is on a claims-made basis and as long as this coverage is 
continuous or replaced with equivalent insurance, claims based on occurrences during its term but reported 
subsequently will be insured. 
 
The System has malpractice insurance through a captive insurance company up to the Act thresholds per 
occurrence and aggregate amounts. A third-party claims administrator has been retained to process all 
benefit claims. Claims are processed and presented for payment upon occurrence. The System makes 
periodic deposits into a trust fund for the proper administration and protection of the fund. 
 
The System also provides medical malpractice insurance for its employed physicians who practice in the state 
of Illinois with limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 in the aggregate. 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require a health care provider to 
accrue the expense of its share of malpractice claim costs, if any, for any reported and unreported incidents 
of potential improper professional service occurring during the year by estimating the probable ultimate 
costs of the incidents. Based upon the System's claim experience, an accrual for estimated malpractice claims 
costs was approximately $1,497,000 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. It is reasonably possible that this 
estimate could change materially in the near term. 
 
Malpractice insurance coverage provided through the Fund and the captive insurance company is provided 
on a claims-made basis. Should the claims-made policy not be renewed or replaced with equivalent 
insurance, claims based on occurrences during its term but reported subsequently will be uninsured. 
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Net Assets and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The System is required to report information regarding its financial position and operations according to two 
classes of net assets (net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions) based upon 
the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Net assets without donor restrictions represent the 
part of the net assets of the System that is not restricted by donor-imposed stipulations. Net assets with 
donor restrictions are those assets whose use by the System has been limited by donors primarily for a 
specified time period or purpose. When a donor restriction expires or is met, net assets with donor 
restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the consolidated 
statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released for property and equipment. 
Property and equipment donated to the System are recorded as additions to net assets with donor 
restrictions at their fair value at the date of receipt and as a transfer to net assets without donor restrictions 
when the assets are placed in service. There were no significant contributed nonfinancial assets during 2022 
and 2021. 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions include approximately $7,281,000 and $6,542,000 of funds held by the 
Foundation for the benefit of the System at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. These amounts 
represent planned contributions of property and equipment received on behalf of the System by the 
Foundation and other amounts the Foundation has granted to the System and are included within Due from 
Union Health Foundation Inc. on the consolidated balance sheets. Other miscellaneous funds are held as  
net assets with donor restrictions in the approximate amounts of $1,880,000 and $1,750,000 as of  
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and held for future capital improvements. 
 
Health Insurance 
 
The System’s employee health care insurance is provided through a combination of self-insurance and 
purchased re-insurance coverage from a commercial carrier. The System maintains an estimated liability for 
the amount of claims incurred but not reported. Substantially all employees are covered for major medical 
benefits. For the Corporation, the specific annual attachment point for an individual is $350,000 with no 
policy period maximum. There is no aggregate limit on claims for the Corporation. For UAPC, the specific 
annual attachment point for an individual is $325,000 with no lifetime maximum on claims. The maximum 
annual aggregate reimbursement under the policy is $1,000,000 per year. Total health insurance expense for 
the Corporation was approximately $15,714,000 and $15,896,000, respectively. Total health insurance 
expense for UAPC was approximately $11,735,000 and $7,179,000 respectively. Health insurance expense for 
the Corporation and UAPC is included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of operations and 
changes in net assets. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
UHS and the Corporation are organized as not-for-profit corporations under Section 501(c)(3) of the  
United States Internal Revenue Code. Effective January 1, 2018, UAPC was granted exemption from income 
taxes under Section 501(c)(3) as a not-for-profit limited liability company. Prior to receiving this exemption, 
UAPC was a limited liability company, whereby net taxable income is taxed directly to the members of the 
limited liability company. As such, UHS, the Corporation, and UAPC are generally exempt from income taxes. 
However, these entities are required to file Federal Form 990 – Return of Organization Exempt from  
Income Tax, which is an informational return only. 
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require management to evaluate 
tax positions taken by UHS, the Corporation, and UAPC, and recognize a tax liability if UHS, the Corporation, 
and UAPC have taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not be sustained upon 
examination by various federal and state taxing authorities. Management has analyzed the tax positions 
taken by UHS, the Corporation, and UAPC, and has concluded that as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there 
are no uncertain positions taken or expected to be taken that would require recognition of a liability or 
disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. UHS, the Corporation, and UAPC are 
subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdictions; however, there are currently no audits for any tax periods in 
progress. Filings are current through 2021. The impact of the subsidiaries tax consequences is immaterial to 
these consolidated financial statements. 
 
Operating Indicator 
 
The System’s operating indicator, income from operations, includes all unrestricted net income, gains and 
support, and expenses from System operations directly related to recurring and ongoing health care 
operations during the reporting period. The operating indicator excludes net investment return and gains 
and losses from investments in joint ventures deemed by management not to be directly related to providing 
health care services. 
 
Performance Indicator 
 
The System’s performance indicator, excess of revenues over (under) expenses, includes all changes in net 
assets without donor restrictions with the exception of other changes in net assets without donor restrictions 
for distribution to non-controlling interests and net assets released for property and equipment, and 
excludes changes in net assets with donor restrictions for other changes in receivable from Union Health 
Foundation, Inc. 
 
Going Concern Evaluation 
 
Management evaluates whether there are conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain amounts from the 2021 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation. The reclassifications did not impact previously reported net assets or changes in 
net assets. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The System has evaluated events or transactions occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date for 
recognition and disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements through the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued which is April 20, 2023. 
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3. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 
 
On January 1, 2022, the System adopted the new lease accounting standard issued by the FASB and codified 
in the ASC as Topic 842 (ASC 842). The lease standard in ASC 842 intended to improve financial reporting 
about leasing transactions by requiring entities to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for 
the rights and obligations created by those leases, and to provide additional disclosures regarding the leases. 
Leases with terms (as defined in ASC 842) of twelve months or less are not required to be reflected on an 
entity’s balance sheet. 
 
When adopting ASC 842, the System applied the modified retrospective approach to all lease agreements. 
ASC 842 was applied retrospectively to the beginning of the period of adoption through a cumulative-effect 
adjustment recognized as of January 2022. Prior period amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be 
reported in accordance with the previous accounting guidance in ASC 840. The adoption of ASC 842 had a 
material impact on the consolidated balance sheet but did not have a significant impact on the consolidated 
statement of operations and changes in net assets and the consolidated statement of cash flows. As of 
January 1, 2022, the System’s total assets and total liabilities increased by approximately $9,368,000 as a 
result of ASC 842. The most significant impact was the recognition of right-of-use (ROU) assets under 
operating leases and operating lease liabilities for operating leases. 
 
The System elected the available practical expedients to account for its existing capital leases and operating 
leases as finance leases and operating leases, respectively, under the new guidance, without reassessing  
(a) whether any expired or existing contracts contain a lease, (b) whether classification of capital leases or 
operating leases would be different in accordance with the new guidance, or (c) whether the unamortized 
initial direct costs, if any, before transition adjustments would have met the definition of initial direct costs in 
the new guidance at lease commencement. In addition, the System elected the hindsight practical expedient 
to determine the lease term for existing leases. 
 
4. NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE, RELATED RECEIVABLES AND ESTIMATED SETTLEMENTS 
 
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and local governments. 
These laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, 
government health care program participation requirements, reimbursement for patient services, and 
Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Recently, government activity has increased with respect to 
investigation and/or allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse statutes and/or 
regulations by health care providers. Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including 
Medicare and Medicaid, are extremely complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least  
a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near term.  
Final determination of compliance with such laws and regulations is subject to future government review and 
interpretation. Violations may result in significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exclusion 
from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The System believes that it is in compliance with all applicable 
laws and regulations. 
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Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews, or investigations are 
considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price 
for providing patient care. These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement 
with the payor, correspondence from the payor, and the System's historical settlement activity, including an 
assessment to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently 
resolved. Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known (that is, new 
information becomes available), or as years are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and 
investigations. For 2022 and 2021, adjustments were recognized due to changes in the System’s estimates of 
implicit price concessions, discounts, and contractual adjustments for performance obligations satisfied in 
prior years were not significant. As of December 31, 2022, Medicare and Medicaid reports have been audited 
and final settled with the fiscal intermediary through December 31, 2017. 
 
Consistent with the System's mission, care is provided to patients regardless of their ability to pay. Therefore, 
the System has determined it has provided implicit price concessions to uninsured patients and patients with 
other uninsured balances (for example, copays and deductibles). The implicit price concessions included in 
estimating the transaction price represent the difference between amounts billed to patients and the 
amounts the System expects to collect based on its collection history with those patients. 
 
Patients who meet the System's criteria for charity care are provided care without charge or at amounts less 
than established rates. Such amounts determined to qualify as charity care are not reported as revenue. 
 
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related deductibles and 
coinsurance, which vary in amount. The System also provides services to uninsured patients, and offers those 
uninsured patients a discount, either by policy or law, from standard charges. The System estimates the 
transaction price for patients with deductibles and coinsurance and from those who are uninsured based on 
historical experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is determined 
by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts, and implicit price concessions. 
Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as adjustments to net 
patient service revenue in the period of the change. Subsequent changes that are significant and determined 
to be the result of an adverse change in the patient's ability to pay, determined on a portfolio basis, are 
recorded as bad debt expense. 
 
The System has determined that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are 
affected by the following factors: payors, geography, service lines, method of reimbursement, and timing of 
when revenue is recognized. The following tables provide details of these factors. 
 
The composition of net patient service revenue by primary payor for 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Medicare 267,448,314$        238,610,913$        
Medicaid 106,979,325         91,773,428           
Managed care and commercial insurance 287,506,937         275,320,284         
Self-pay and other 6,686,208             6,118,229             

668,620,784$        611,822,854$        
 



UNION HEALTH SYSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 

 

 
17 

A summary of net patient service revenue, including information on service lines, for 2022 and 2021 follows: 
 

2022 2021
Inpatient services 643,077,436$        605,953,119$        
Outpatient services 1,351,134,241       1,188,525,168       
Physician practice services 162,335,501         147,444,311         

2,156,547,178       1,941,922,598       

Less financial assistance 6,690,612             12,107,760           
Less contractual adjustments 1,449,654,049       1,288,023,099       

1,456,344,661       1,300,130,859       

700,202,517         641,791,739         

Less implied price concessions 31,581,733           29,968,885           
668,620,784$        611,822,854$        

 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, substantially all of the net patient service revenue related 
to goods and services that transfer to the customer over time. The System grants credit without collateral to 
its patients, most of whom are local residents and are generally insured under third-party payor agreements. 
The mix of receivables and revenue from patients and third-party payors for 2022 and 2021 follows: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
Medicare 38% 41% 40% 39%
Medicaid 14% 13% 16% 15%
Managed care and commercial insurance 37% 36% 43% 45%
Self-pay and other 11% 10% 1% 1%

100% 100% 100% 100%

RevenueReceivables

 
 

The System has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the System at amounts 
different from its established rates. A summary of the payment arrangements with major third-party payors 
follows: 
 

• Medicare: The System is a provider of services to patients entitled to coverage under Title XVIII 
(Medicare) of the Health Insurance Act. The System is reimbursed for Medicare inpatient services 
based on a fixed price per discharge for each diagnosis related grouping (DRG) and Medicare 
outpatient services based on a fixed price per clinical unit of service. Differences between the total 
program billed charges and the payments received are reflected as deductions from revenue. At the 
System’s year-end, a cost report is filed with the Medicare program computing reimbursement 
amounts related to Medicare patients. The difference between computed reimbursement and interim 
reimbursement is reflected as a receivable from or payable to the third-party program. The System’s 
classification of patients under the Medicare program and the appropriateness of their admission are 
subject to an independent review by a peer review organization under contract with the System. 
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• Medicaid: The System is a provider of services to patients entitled to coverage under Title XIX 
(Medicaid) of the Health Insurance Act. The System is reimbursed for Medicaid inpatient services 
under a prospectively determined rate-per-discharge and Medicaid outpatient services based on a 
fixed price per clinical unit of service. Differences between the total program billed charges and the 
payments received are reflected as deductions from revenue. There is no cost settlement for either of 
the inpatient or outpatient programs. 

 
• Other: The System has also entered into preferred provider agreements with certain commercial 

insurance carriers. The basis for payment to the System under these arrangements is a discount from 
established charges and fee schedule payments. 

 
The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) has been granted authority to suspend payments, in 
whole or in part, to Medicare providers if CMS possess reliable information on overpayment, fraud or if willful 
misrepresentation exists. If CMS suspects payments are being made as the result of fraud or 
misrepresentation, CMS may suspend payment at any time without providing prior notice to the System. The 
initial suspension period is limited to 180 days. However, the payment suspension period can be extended 
indefinitely if the matter is under investigation by the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services Office of Inspector General or the United States Department of Justice. Therefore, the System is 
unable to predict if or when it may be subject to a suspension of payments by the Medicare and/or Medicaid 
programs, the possible length of the suspension period, or the potential cash flow impact of a payment 
suspension. Any such suspension would adversely impact the System’s financial position, results of 
operations, and cash flows. 
 
Financial Assistance, Community Benefit and Assistance to the Uninsured 
 
The System provides care to patients regardless of their ability to pay. A patient qualifies for financial 
assistance based on certain established policies of the System. Essentially, these policies define financial 
assistance as those services for which no payment is anticipated, up to 300% of Federal Poverty Income 
Guidelines, published by the Department of Health and Human Services and where incurred charges are 
considered significant when compared to the income of the patient. Because collection of amounts 
determined to qualify as financial assistance is not pursued, such amounts are not reported as revenue. 
 
Financial assistance provided during 2022 and 2021, measured at established rates, was approximately 
$6,691,000 and $12,108,000, respectively. The System did not modify its financial assistance policy in 2022 or 
2021. Medicaid expansion, combined with other health care reform initiatives, increased insurance coverage 
for patients who were previously uninsured. In addition, other programs and services for the benefit of the 
community are provided. The costs of these programs are included in operating expenses. The System 
receives reimbursements from certain governmental payors to assist in the funding of financial assistance. 
 
Of the System’s total expenses reported during 2022 and 2021, an estimated $2,131,000 and $3,830,000, 
respectively, arose from providing services to charity patients. The estimated costs of providing financial 
assistance services are based on a calculation, which applies a ratio of costs to charges to the gross 
uncompensated charges associated with providing care to charity patients. The ratio of cost to charges is 
calculated based on the System’s total expenses to gross patient service revenue. 
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Medicaid and Hospital Assessment Fee (HAF) and Healthy Indiana Plan (HIP) Programs 
 
The System participates in the State of Indiana’s HAF Program. The purpose of the HAF Program is to fund 
the State share of enhanced Medicaid payments and Medicaid Disproportionate Share (DSH) payments for 
Indiana hospitals as reflected in the hospital assessment fee expense reported in the consolidated statements 
of operations and changes in net assets. Previously, the State share was funded by governmental entities 
through intergovernmental transfers. The Medicaid enhanced payments relate to both fee for service and 
managed care claims. 
 
The Medicaid enhanced payments are designed to follow the patients and result in increased Medicaid rates. 
Beginning July 1, 2017, hospitals also started funding HIP, the State’s Medicaid expansion program.  
The payments related to the HIP Program mirror the Medicaid payments under the HAF Program, but the 
funding includes physician, state administration, and certain non-hospital expenditures. During 2022 and 
2021, the System recognized HAF and HIP program expense of approximately $35,781,000 and $11,944,000, 
respectively, which resulted in increased Medicaid reimbursement. The HAF and HIP program expense is 
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as an operating expense. 
The Medicaid rate increases under the HAF Program are included in net patient service revenue in the 
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 
 
5. INVESTMENTS LIMITED AS TO USE 
 
All investments are considered trading securities by management. Investments limited as to use that are 
required for certain obligations classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. A description and 
the carrying value of the investments limited as to use by the Board of Directors is as follows as of  
December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

2022 2021
Common stocks 2,912$               5,148$               
Mutual funds 207,044,622        249,699,928        
U.S. Government obligations 18,824,583         16,769,540         
Money market deposit accounts 1,414,851           1,757,624           
Private equity funds 10,820,000         -0-                     

238,106,968$      268,232,240$      

 
 

Investment return, net consists of the following: 
 

2022 2021
Interest and dividends 5,162,243$         3,895,140$         
Realized gains 548,731              44,317,490         
Unrealized gains (losses) (44,282,144)        (26,788,505)        

(38,571,170)$       21,424,125$        
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs  
(level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 
 

• Level 1: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets that the System has the ability to access. 

 
• Level 2: Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in 

active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; inputs 
other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; inputs that are derived 
principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. If the 
asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

 
• Level 3: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 

measurement. 
 
The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level 
of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques maximize the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value. There have 
been no changes in the methodologies used as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 

• Common stocks: Valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual 
securities are traded. 

 
• Mutual funds: Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds held by the 

System are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
These funds are required to publish their daily net asset value (NAV) and to transact at that price.  
The mutual funds held by the System are deemed to be actively traded.  

 
• US Government obligations: Valued based upon the active market on which the individual securities 

are traded. 
 
• Money market deposit accounts: Valued based at the subscription and redemption activity at a $1 

stable NAV. However, on a daily basis the funds are valued at their daily NAV calculated using the 
amortized cost of the securities. 
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• Private equity funds: Consist of investments in a variety of private companies valued at the NAV of 
units as reported by the fund. The NAV, as provided by the investment manager, is used as a 
practical expedient to estimate fair value. The NAV is based on the fair value of the underlying 
investments held by the fund less its liabilities. Due to the nature of the investments held by the fund, 
changes in market conditions and the economic environment may significantly impact the NAV of 
the fund and, consequently, the fair value of the System’s interests in the funds. Although a 
secondary market exists for these investments, it is not active and individual transactions are typically 
not observable. When transactions do occur in this limited secondary market, they may occur at 
discounts to the reported NAV. It is therefore reasonably possible that if the System were to sell 
these investments in the secondary market, a buyer may require a discount to the reported NAV, and 
the discount could be significant. 

 
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 
 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments limited as to use

Common stocks
Information technology 2,912$              2,912$              -0-$                 -0-$                 

Mutual funds
Fixed income funds 70,788,716        70,788,716        -0-                   -0-                   
Large cap funds 79,219,977        79,219,977        -0-                   -0-                   
Small cap funds 3,822,573         3,822,573         -0-                   -0-                   
International funds 53,213,356        53,213,356        -0-                   -0-                   

Total mutual funds 207,044,622      207,044,622      -0-                   -0-                   

U.S. Government obligations 18,824,583        18,824,583        -0-                   -0-                   
225,872,117      225,872,117$    -0-$                 -0-$                 

Money market deposit accounts 1,414,851         
Private equity funds * 10,820,000        

Total investments limited as to use 238,106,968$    

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments limited as to use

Common stocks
Information technology 5,148$              5,148$              -0-$                 -0-$                 

Mutual funds
Fixed income funds 87,009,739        87,009,739        -0-                   -0-                   
Large cap funds 95,847,935        95,847,935        -0-                   -0-                   
Small cap funds 4,975,065         4,975,065         -0-                   -0-                   
International funds 61,867,189        61,867,189        -0-                   -0-                   

Total mutual funds 249,699,928      249,699,928      -0-                   -0-                   

U.S. Government obligations 16,769,540        16,769,540        -0-                   -0-                   
266,474,616      266,474,616$    -0-$                 -0-$                 

Money market deposit accounts 1,757,624         

Total investments limited as to use 268,232,240$    

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021
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The System holds investments, which are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market, and credit. 
Due to the level of risk associated with these securities and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the 
value, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the various risk factors will occur in the near term that 
could materially affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
Fair Value of Investments in Entities that Use NAV 
 
The following table summarizes investments measured at fair value based on NAV per share as of  
December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 

Unfunded Redemption Redemption
Investment 2022 2021 Commitments Frequency Notice Period

Private equity funds 10,820,000$    -0-$               None Not applicable Not applicable

Fair Value

 
 

7. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following is a summary of long-term debt as of December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

2022 2021
Mortgage note payable (project 073-22274) in the original amount of 
approximately $266,600,000 bearing fixed interest on the unpaid balance 
at 3.33%, payable in monthly installments of principal and interest of 
approximately $1,310,000, maturing on September 1, 2041, collateralized 
by property and equipment with a net book value of approximately 
$280,638,000 as of December 31, 2022. 218,391,289$    226,694,106$    

Mortgage note payable (project 073-22333) in the original amount of 
approximately $60,600,000 bearing fixed interest on the unpaid balance 
at 2.28%, payable in monthly installments of principal and interest of 
approximately $307,000, maturing on September 1, 2041, collateralized 
by property and equipment with a net book value of approximately 
$280,638,000 as of December 31, 2022. 55,934,583        58,311,861        

Other 383,291            588,301            

Total long-term debt 274,709,163      285,594,268      
Less current portion 11,322,568        11,027,520        
Less unamortized debt issue costs 3,801,561         4,182,378         

259,585,034$    270,384,370$    
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The scheduled maturities and mandatory redemptions of long-term debt are as follows: 
 

Year Ending
December 31,

2023 11,322,568$      
2024 11,361,880        
2025 11,719,254        
2026 12,088,094        
2027 12,468,775        

Thereafter 215,748,592      
274,709,163$    

 
 

During December 2020, the System financed the purchase of several properties, of which the System was 
leasing space, with an approximate $60,600,000 mortgage loan insured by the U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD), authorized pursuant to Section 242 of the National Housing Act and the 
corresponding Regulations issued thereunder. The lender of this mortgage is Jones Lang LaSalle Multifamily, 
LLC. The agreement has monthly principal and interest payments of approximately $307,000 from February 
2021 through September 2041. 
 
During August 2016, the System refinanced outstanding debt (Series 2011, 2007, 1993, and 2014A bonds) 
with an approximate $266,600,000 mortgage loan insured by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD), authorized pursuant to Section 242 of the National Housing Act and the corresponding 
Regulations issued thereunder. The lender of this mortgage is Jones Lang LaSalle Multifamily, LLC.  
The agreement has monthly principal and interest payments of approximately $1,310,000 from September 
2016 through September 2041. 
 
In October 2017 and January 2019, the Corporation financed the purchase of a medical group’s Non-Invasive 
Cardiology and Cardiac PET service lines for approximately $3,330,000 and $3,690,000, respectively.  
Payments made during the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $1,958,000. The related 
intangible assets, reflecting primarily of the fair value of medical records and a non-compete contracts, were 
a component of intangible assets at net value within the consolidated balance sheets. These loans were paid 
off during 2021 and intangible assets were fully amortized during 2021. 
 
The System is also required to meet certain financial covenants. The System believes it is in compliance with 
all covenants as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
8. LEASES 
 
The System recognizes ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms greater than 12 months or leases 
that contain a purchase option that is reasonably certain to be exercised. Leases are classified as either 
finance or operating leases. This classification dictates whether lease expense is recognized based on an 
effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
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The System has operating leases for medical offices and equipment. Leasing arrangements require fixed 
payments and also include an amount that is probable will be owed under residual value guarantees, if 
applicable. Lease payments also include payments related to purchase or termination options when the 
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option or is reasonably certain not to exercise the option, 
respectively. The System’s lease agreements do not contain any material restrictive covenants. The leases 
have remaining terms of approximately 1 to 10 years. 
 
The System’s ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized on the lease commencement date in an amount 
that represents the present value of future lease payments over the lease term. The System utilizes its 
collateralized incremental borrowing rate commensurate to the lease term as the discount rate for its leases 
unless the System can specifically determine the lessor’s implicit rate. Certain lease contracts contain  
non-lease components such as maintenance and utilities. The System has made a policy election to not 
separate the lease and non-lease components, and thus recognize a single lease component for all of its 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments 
made and excludes lease incentives, if any. 
 
Short-term leases (leases with an initial term of 12 months or less or leases that are cancelable by the lessee 
and lessor without significant penalties) are not capitalized but are rather expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 
 
In evaluating contracts to determine if they qualify as a lease, the System considers factors such as if it has 
obtained substantially all of the rights to the underlying asset through exclusivity, if the System can direct the 
use of the asset by making decisions about how and for what purpose the asset will be used and if the lessor 
has substantive substitution rights. Furthermore, the System assesses whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise options to extend or terminate a lease considering all relevant factors that create economic incentive 
to exercise such options, including asset, contract, market, and entity-based factors. These evaluations may 
require significant judgement. 
 
The components of the System’s lease cost, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Lease cost
Operating lease cost 3,976,386$     
Short-term lease cost 1,825,218       

Total lease cost 5,801,604$     

Right-of-use assets
Operating lease assets, net 6,426,432$     

Lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, current 1,993,279       
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 4,433,153       

Total lease liabilities 6,426,432$     
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Additional information regarding cash payments under the System’s operating and finance leases during 
2022, as well as the inputs used in determining the ROU assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022, is as 
follows: 
 

Cash paid for amount included in measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases 3,976,386$     
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for

new operating lease liabilities 652,689$        
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 6 years
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 4.6%

 
 
Future payments of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022 are as follows: 
 

 Year Ending December 31,
2023 2,246,344$     
2024 1,147,469       
2025 829,373         
2026 616,207         
2027 582,388         

Thereafter 2,001,730       
Total lease payments 7,423,511       
Less interest (997,079)        
Present value of lease liabilities 6,426,432$     

 
 

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases having initial terms in excess of one year at 
December 31, 2021, under previous accounting guidance under ASC 840, were as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31,
2022 2,680,858$     
2023 1,587,691       
2024 448,514         
2025 96,707           
2026 19,342           

4,833,112$     
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9. NET ASSETS 
 
Net assets consist of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

2022 2021
Net assets without donor restrictions

Undesignated 115,283,704$      109,418,740$      
Board designated primarily for future capital needs 217,995,277        249,780,238        
Noncontrolling interests in UHT, LLC 582,598              684,808              

Total net assets without donor restrictions 333,861,579        359,883,786        

Net assets with donor restrictions
Subject to expenditure for specific purpose

Capital items 1,880,313           1,750,133           
Funds held by Foundation for program expenditures 7,280,798           6,541,695           

Total net assets with donor restrictions 9,161,111           8,291,828           

Total net assets 343,022,690$      368,175,614$      

 
 

The Board of Directors of the System has established an operating reserve with the objective of setting funds 
aside to be drawn upon in the event of financial distress, immediate liquidity needs, or to fund future capital 
needs. 
 
10. NONCONTROLLING INTEREST 
 
The following table depicts the changes in consolidated net assets attributable to the controlling financial 
interest of the Corporation and the 49% non-controlling interest Clinical Management Solutions, LLC holds in 
Union Hospital Therapy, LLC (UHT). 
 

Controlling Noncontrolling
Interest Interest Total

Balance December 31, 2020 298,833,887$      525,948$            299,359,835$      

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses 60,365,091         1,707,696           62,072,787         

Net assets without donor restrictions -0-                     (1,548,836)          (1,548,836)          

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 60,365,091         158,860              60,523,951         

Balance December 31, 2021 359,198,978$      684,808$            359,883,786$      

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses (26,046,309)        1,174,703           (24,871,606)        

Net assets without donor restrictions 126,312              (1,276,913)          (1,150,601)          

Change in net assets without donor restrictions (25,919,997)        (102,210)             (26,022,207)        

Balance December 31, 2022 333,278,981$      582,598$            333,861,579$      
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11. AFFILIATED ENTITY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The System contracts with AP&S Clinic for management services, which are provided to UAPC and the 
Corporation. Management expenses totaled approximately $14,294,000 and $15,915,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are included in contract services in the consolidated 
statements of operations and changes in net assets. Effective July 31, 2018, AP&S Clinic transferred its 
operations and staffing to UAPC. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, a net receivable is owed from the AP&S 
Clinic to the System in the amount of approximately $2,000. Balances as of 2022 and 2021 are reflected in 
accounts payable and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
UAPC is related to AP&S Clinic, AP&S II, and AP&S III as some physicians employed by UAPC have ownership 
interests in AP&S Clinic, AP&S II, and AP&S III. 
 
The Corporation provided management and other services for the Foundation and other related 
organizations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. These amounts are immaterial to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole. In addition, the Corporation received contributions from the 
Foundation for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 that were immaterial to the consolidated 
financial statements. These amounts are recorded within other revenue in the consolidated statements of 
operations and changes in net assets. 
 
UAPC participates in a joint venture, Oncology Services Group, LLC (OSG). The Corporation contracts with 
OSG to provide staffing related to oncology and chemotherapy. These expenses totaled approximately 
$3,000,000 and $3,001,000 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are  
included in contract services in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. At  
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Corporation had a receivable from OSG in the amount of approximately 
$30,000 and $3,000, respectively. Balances as of 2022 and 2021 are reflected in accounts payable and other 
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
UAPC participates in a joint venture, Ambulatory Surgery Management Services, LLC (ASMS II). The System 
contracts with ASMS II to provide staffing related to ambulatory surgery. These expenses totaled 
approximately $5,152,000 and $6,683,000 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and 
are included in contract services in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.  
At December 31, 2021, the System had a receivable from ASMS II in the approximate amount of $472,000 
reflected in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Participation in 
ASMS II terminated during 2022. 
 
UAPC participated in a joint venture, Cardiovascular Management, LLC (CVM). The Corporation contracted 
with CVM to provide equipment, supplies and staffing related to certain cardiology services. These expenses 
totaled approximately $130,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021, and are included in contract services 
in the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the 
Corporation had a payable to CVM in the approximate amounts of $358,000 reflected in accounts payable 
and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Participation in CVM terminated during 2021. 
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12. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 
 
The Corporation is a member of a Vermont insurance company, Tecumseh Health Reciprocal Risk Retention 
Group (THRRRG), as means to comply with the Corporation’s required portion of the insurance coverage 
pursuant to the Act, as well as its liability insurance. Membership in THRRRG includes 14 hospitals as of 
December 31, 2022. The Corporation’s investment in THRRRG amounts to approximately $4,746,000 and 
$4,347,000 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The investment in THRRRG was increased by the 
Corporation’s share of income of approximately $1,502,000 and $500,000 in 2022 and 2021, respectively, and 
decreased by distributions from THRRRG to the Corporation of approximately $-0- and $1,500,000 during 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
The interest is recorded in investments in joint ventures on the consolidated balance sheets and the 
Corporation’s gain on its investment in these joint ventures are recorded in other non-operating gains 
(losses) on the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. 
 
The Corporation has ownership interest in other joint ventures accounted for under the equity method, the 
effects of which are immaterial to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. OSG and ASMS II, which 
are reflected in Note 11, are considered to have immaterial effects as noted herein. 
 
13. POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
The Corporation has a 403(b) defined contribution plan, which includes a 50% employer match up to 6% of 
employee deferrals in addition to an employer discretionary add-on of 1.67% for the years ended  
December 31, 2022 and 2021. The related contributions for the plan approximated $4,089,000 and 
$4,879,000 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. UAPC also has a 401(k) 
discretionary defined contribution plan for which contributions approximated $819,000 and $3,090,000 
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 
14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The System is involved in other litigation arising in the normal course of business. After consultation with 
legal counsel, it is management’s opinion that these matters will be resolved without a material adverse 
effect on the System’s financial position or results of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows. 
 
15. LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF RESOURCES 
 
Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their 
use, within one year of the consolidated balance sheet date, comprise the following:  

 
2022 2021

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 59,182,558$        81,985,292$        
Patient accounts receivable, net 89,478,151         80,306,704         
Other accounts receivable due within one year 6,904,473           2,959,444           

Total financial assets 155,565,182$      165,251,440$      
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As a part of the System’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure financial assets to be available as 
its general expenditures, liabilities and other obligations come due. In addition, the System periodically 
invests excess cash in investments. The System does not intend to spend from the board designated 
investments, though these amounts could be made available, if necessary. 
 
16. EXPENSES BY BOTH NATURE AND FUNCTION 
 
The consolidated financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributable to one or 
more program or supporting functions of the System. Therefore, these expenses require allocation on a 
reasonable basis that is consistently applied. The expenses that are allocated include depreciation and 
amortization and interest, which are allocated based on square footage; salaries and wages, which are 
allocated based on estimates of time and effort; and employee benefits, which are allocated based on a 
percentage of salaries and wages. The remaining operating expenses below were allocated based on an 
identified percentage developed through the System’s analysis of indirect cost. Although the methods used 
were appropriate, alternative methods may provide different results. Expenses related to providing these 
services for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows: 
 

Healthcare Administrative
Services & General Total

Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 54,585,087$           9,648,783$          64,233,870$        
Other salaries and wages 140,223,249           24,786,692          165,009,941        
Employee benefits 40,155,089            7,098,051            47,253,140          
Medical supplies and drugs 139,357,939           -0-                     139,357,939        
Physician services 31,901,997            5,639,186            37,541,183          
Contract services 82,309,455            14,549,507          96,858,962          
Rent and leases 4,930,126              871,478              5,801,604            
Utilities, supplies, and other 48,099,313            8,502,319            56,601,632          
Hospital assessment fee 35,781,306            -0-                     35,781,306          
Depreciation and amortization 23,329,670            4,123,891            27,453,561          
Interest 9,217,100              1,629,269            10,846,369          

609,890,331$         76,849,176$        686,739,507$       

Healthcare Administrative
Services & General Total

Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 52,795,877$           9,532,940$          62,328,817$        
Other salaries and wages 138,844,594           25,070,087          163,914,681        
Employee benefits 41,300,190            7,457,254            48,757,444          
Medical supplies and drugs 132,348,769           -0-                     132,348,769        
Physician services 24,678,491            4,456,003            29,134,494          
Contract services 64,751,978            11,691,760          76,443,738          
Rent and leases 7,319,889              1,321,695            8,641,584            
Utilities, supplies, and other 35,900,407            6,482,257            42,382,664          
Hospital assessment fee 11,943,889            -0-                     11,943,889          
Depreciation and amortization 22,941,609            4,142,388            27,083,997          
Interest 9,567,334              1,727,499            11,294,833          

542,393,027$         71,881,883$        614,274,910$       

2022

2021
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17. COVID-19 
 
During 2022 and 2021 Provider Relief Fund (PRF) grants authorized under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act and the American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) were distributed to healthcare 
providers impacted by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic primarily under Catalog of Federal Domestic 
Assistance (CFDA) #93.498. Revenues from PRF grants can be recognized to the extent of expenses incurred 
specific to responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Eligible expenses must not be reimbursed from another 
source and not obligated to be reimbursed from another source. PRF grants that are not fully expended on 
eligible expenses can then be applied to lost revenues as defined by the guidance issued by the grantor. 
 
The System received PRF grants of approximately $904,000 and $6,646,000 during 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. PRF funds are subject to recoupment by the grantor in the event that the conditions for 
recognition are not satisfied. The System recognized PRF grants of approximately $904,000 and $12,425,000 
in 2022 and 2021, respectively, which is included in other revenue on the consolidated statements of 
operations and change in net assets. Amounts received prior to incurring qualifying expenditures or lost 
revenues are reported as refundable advances in the consolidated balance sheets. There were no refundable 
advances as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. As of December 31, 2020, approximately $5,779,000 was 
recorded as refundable advances related to the PRF grants, included in estimated third party settlements on 
the consolidated balance sheets, and were recognized as revenue in 2021. 
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 50,053,658$             9,128,900$               -0-$                        59,182,558$             
Patient accounts receivable, net 85,654,636               3,823,515                -0-                          89,478,151               
Inventories 8,459,432                655,740                   -0-                          9,115,172                
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22,167,363               557,701                   -0-                          22,725,064               

Total current assets 166,335,089             14,165,856               -0-                          180,500,945             

Investments limited as to use
Funds held by trustee 20,111,691               -0-                          -0-                          20,111,691               
Board designated 217,995,277             -0-                          -0-                          217,995,277             

Total investments limited as to use 238,106,968             -0-                          -0-                          238,106,968             

Property and equipment
Land and improvements 39,936,775               -0-                          -0-                          39,936,775               
Buildings and fixed equipment 430,009,885             -0-                          -0-                          430,009,885             
Movable equipment 212,187,214             12,847,778               -0-                          225,034,992             

682,133,874             12,847,778               -0-                          694,981,652             
Less allowances for depreciation 407,612,222             9,378,242                -0-                          416,990,464             

274,521,652             3,469,536                -0-                          277,991,188             
Construction in progress 2,580,179                66,606                     -0-                          2,646,785                

Total property and equipment, net 277,101,831             3,536,142                -0-                          280,637,973             

Other assets
Due from Union Health Foundation, Inc. 7,280,798                -0-                          -0-                          7,280,798                
Investment in joint ventures 4,995,601                (71,455)                    -0-                          4,924,146                
Right-of-use assets under operating leasess, net 6,426,432                -0-                          -0-                          6,426,432                

Total other assets 18,702,831               (71,455)                    -0-                          18,631,376               
Total assets 700,246,719$           17,630,543$             -0-$                        717,877,262$           
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Liabilities and net assets

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 38,706,538$             2,121,807$               -0-$                        40,828,345$             
Salaries, wages, and related liabilities 25,154,103               11,496,018               -0-                          36,650,121               
Estimated third party settlements 16,482,782               -0-                          -0-                          16,482,782               
Current portion of long-term debt 11,322,568               -0-                          -0-                          11,322,568               
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 1,993,279                -0-                          -0-                          1,993,279                

Total current liabilities 93,659,270               13,617,825               -0-                          107,277,095             

Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion 259,585,034             -0-                          -0-                          259,585,034             
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 4,433,153                -0-                          -0-                          4,433,153                
Other long-term liabilities 3,559,290                -0-                          -0-                          3,559,290                

Total long-term liabilities 267,577,477             -0-                          -0-                          267,577,477             

Total liabilities 361,236,747             13,617,825               -0-                          374,854,572             

Net assets
Without donor restrictions 329,266,263             4,012,718                -0-                          333,278,981             
Noncontrolling interests in UHT, LLC 582,598                   -0-                          -0-                          582,598                   

Total net assets without donor restrictions 329,848,861             4,012,718                -0-                          333,861,579             
With donor restrictions 9,161,111                -0-                          -0-                          9,161,111                

Total net assets 339,009,972             4,012,718                -0-                          343,022,690             

Total liabilities and net assets 700,246,719$           17,630,543$             -0-$                        717,877,262$           
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 78,183,072$             3,802,220$               -0-$                        81,985,292$             
Patient accounts receivable, net 74,188,394               6,118,310                -0-                          80,306,704               
Inventories 6,663,060                581,673                   -0-                          7,244,733                
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,660,194               1,057,199                -0-                          18,717,393               

Total current assets 176,694,720             11,559,402               -0-                          188,254,122             

Investments limited as to use
Funds held by trustee 18,452,002               -0-                          -0-                          18,452,002               
Board designated 249,780,238             -0-                          -0-                          249,780,238             

Total investments limited as to use 268,232,240             -0-                          -0-                          268,232,240             

Property and equipment
Land and improvements 39,470,258               -0-                          -0-                          39,470,258               
Buildings and fixed equipment 426,393,793             -0-                          -0-                          426,393,793             
Movable equipment 193,377,750             12,484,265               -0-                          205,862,015             

659,241,801             12,484,265               -0-                          671,726,066             
Less allowances for depreciation 383,052,020             8,357,612                -0-                          391,409,632             

276,189,781             4,126,653                -0-                          280,316,434             
Construction in progress 7,373,403                2,200                      -0-                          7,375,603                

Total property and equipment, net 283,563,184             4,128,853                -0-                          287,692,037             

Other assets
Due from Union Health Foundation, Inc. 6,541,695                -0-                          -0-                          6,541,695                
Investment in joint ventures 4,597,177 916,426 -0-                          5,513,603                

11,138,872               916,426                   -0-                          12,055,298               
Total assets 739,629,016$           16,604,681$             -0-$                        756,233,697$           
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Liabilities and net assets

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 39,093,167$             2,434,305$               -0-$                        41,527,472$             
Salaries, wages, and related liabilities 28,259,704               18,644,725               -0-                          46,904,429               
Estimated third party settlements 13,935,968               416,134                   -0-                          14,352,102               
Current portion of long-term debt 11,027,520               -0-                          -0-                          11,027,520               

Total current liabilities 92,316,359               21,495,164               -0-                          113,811,523             

Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion 270,384,370             -0-                          -0-                          270,384,370             
Other long-term liabilities 3,862,190                -0-                          -0-                          3,862,190                

Total long-term liabilities 274,246,560             -0-                          -0-                          274,246,560             

Total liabilities 366,562,919             21,495,164               -0-                          388,058,083             

Net assets
Without donor restrictions 364,089,461             (4,890,483)               -0-                          359,198,978             
Noncontrolling interests in UHT, LLC 684,808                   -0-                          -0-                          684,808                   

Total net assets without donor restrictions 364,774,269             (4,890,483)               -0-                          359,883,786             
With donor restrictions 8,291,828                -0-                          -0-                          8,291,828                

Total net assets 373,066,097             (4,890,483)               -0-                          368,175,614             

Total liabilities and net assets 739,629,016$           16,604,681$             -0-$                        756,233,697$           
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Operating revenue

Net patient service revenue 614,869,489$           53,751,295$             -0-$                        668,620,784$           
Other revenue 26,761,186               23,982,005               (18,915,065)              31,828,126               

Total operating revenue 641,630,675             77,733,300               (18,915,065)              700,448,910             

Operating expenses
Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 23,597,135               40,636,735               -0-                          64,233,870               
Other salaries and wages 133,201,052             31,808,889               -0-                          165,009,941             
Employee benefits 33,537,207               13,715,933               -0-                          47,253,140               
Medical supplies and drugs 127,703,643             11,654,296               -0-                          139,357,939             
Physician services 37,541,183               -0-                          -0-                          37,541,183               
Contract services 100,279,727             10,348,627               (13,769,392)              96,858,962               
Rent and leases 5,164,774                5,717,722                (5,080,892)               5,801,604                
Utilities, supplies, and other 48,439,128               8,227,285                (64,781)                    56,601,632               
Hospital assessment fee 35,781,306               -0-                          -0-                          35,781,306               
Depreciation and amortization 26,431,927               1,021,634                -0-                          27,453,561               
Interest 10,846,293               76                           -0-                          10,846,369               

Total operating expenses 582,523,375             123,131,197             (18,915,065)              686,739,507             

Income (loss) from operations 59,107,300               (45,397,897)              -0-                          13,709,403               

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment return, net (38,571,391)              221                         -0-                          (38,571,170)              
Other (115,359)                  105,520                   -0-                          (9,839)                     

Total non-operating gains (losses) (38,686,750)              105,741                   -0-                          (38,581,009)              

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses 20,420,550$             (45,292,156)$            -0-$                        (24,871,606)$            
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Net assets without donor restrictions

Distribution to non-controlling interests (1,276,913)$              -0-$                        -0-$                        (1,276,913)$              
Transfers for property and equipment additions 126,312                   -0-                          -0-                          126,312                   
Transfers between Union Hospital, Inc. and UAPC (54,195,357)              54,195,357               -0-                          -0-                          

Change in net assets without donor restrictions (34,925,408)              8,903,201                -0-                          (26,022,207)              

Net assets with donor restrictions
Other changes in receivable from Union Health Foundation, Inc. 995,595                   -0-                          -0-                          995,595                   
Net assets released for property and equipment (126,312)                  -0-                          -0-                          (126,312)                  

Change in net assets with donor restrictions 869,283                   -0-                          -0-                          869,283                   

Change in net assets (34,056,125)              8,903,201                -0-                          (25,152,924)              

Net assets
Beginning of year 373,066,097             (4,890,483)               -0-                          368,175,614             
End of year 339,009,972$           4,012,718$               -0-$                        343,022,690$           
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Operating revenue

Net patient service revenue 563,073,930$           48,748,924$             -0-$                        611,822,854$           
Other revenue 31,930,305               27,600,254 (18,102,185) 41,428,374

Total operating revenue 595,004,235             76,349,178               (18,102,185)              653,251,228             

Operating expenses
Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 23,309,198               39,019,619               -0-                          62,328,817               
Other salaries and wages 130,209,614             33,705,067               -0-                          163,914,681             
Employee benefits 34,251,132               14,506,312 -0-                          48,757,444               
Medical supplies and drugs 116,010,806             16,337,963               -0-                          132,348,769             
Physician services 29,134,494               -0-                          -0-                          29,134,494               
Contract services 75,941,224               13,383,988 (12,881,474)              76,443,738               
Rent and leases 7,994,971                5,803,859                (5,157,246)               8,641,584                
Utilities, supplies, and other 36,485,558               5,960,571                (63,465)                    42,382,664               
Hospital assessment fee 11,943,889               -0-                          -0-                          11,943,889               
Depreciation and amortization 25,888,956               1,195,041                -0-                          27,083,997               
Interest 11,294,809               24                           -0-                          11,294,833               

Total operating expenses 502,464,651             129,912,444             (18,102,185)              614,274,910             

Income (loss) from operations 92,539,584               (53,563,266)              -0-                          38,976,318               

Non-operating gains
Investment return, net 21,421,583               2,542                      -0-                          21,424,125               
Other 515,949                   1,156,395                -0-                          1,672,344                

Total non-operating gains 21,937,532               1,158,937                -0-                          23,096,469               

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses 114,477,116$           (52,404,329)$            -0-$                        62,072,787$             
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Union Hospital, Inc. Union Associated
and Physician's Union Health

Subsidiaries Clinic Eliminations System
Net assets without donor restrictions

Distribution to non-controlling interests (1,548,836)$              -0-$                        -0-$                        (1,548,836)$              
Transfers between Union Hospital, Inc. and UAPC (34,449,809)              34,449,809               -0-                          -0-                          

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 78,478,471               (17,954,520)              -0-                          60,523,951               

Net assets with donor restrictions
Other changes in receivable from Union Health Foundation, Inc. 520,244                   -0-                          -0-                          520,244                   

Change in net assets 78,998,715               (17,954,520)              -0-                          61,044,195               

Net assets
Beginning of year 294,067,382             13,064,037               -0-                          307,131,419             
End of year 373,066,097$           (4,890,483)$              -0-$                        368,175,614$           
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Total
Union Union Total Union Hospital, Inc.

Hospital Hospital Union and 
Terre Haute Clinton Hospital, Inc. COH UHT, LLC Eliminations Subsidiaries

Operating revenue
Net patient service revenue 582,971,299$    30,121,341$      613,092,640$    1,776,849$        -0-$                 -0-$                 614,869,489$           
Other revenue 26,889,487        1,153,964         28,043,451        -0-                   10,527,722        (11,809,987)       26,761,186               

Total operating revenue 609,860,786      31,275,305        641,136,091      1,776,849         10,527,722        (11,809,987)       641,630,675             

Operating expenses
Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 17,275,731        627,999            17,903,730        -0-                   5,693,405         -0-                   23,597,135               
Other salaries and wages 124,728,493      8,472,559         133,201,052      -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   133,201,052             
Employee benefits 30,720,749        1,941,127         32,661,876        -0-                   875,331            -0-                   33,537,207               
Medical supplies and drugs 125,748,156      1,719,594         127,467,750      235,893            -0-                   -0-                   127,703,643             
Physician services 35,706,275        1,834,908         37,541,183        -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   37,541,183               
Contract services 95,368,931        3,530,593         98,899,524        1,369,856         1,292,612         (1,282,265)        100,279,727             
Rent and leases 4,812,971         347,297            5,160,268         4,506               -0-                   -0-                   5,164,774                
Utilities, supplies, and other 54,925,602        3,543,017         58,468,619        231,256            266,975            (10,527,722)       48,439,128               
Hospital assessment fee 32,430,485        3,350,821         35,781,306        -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   35,781,306               
Depreciation and amortization 25,301,114        1,126,710         26,427,824        4,103               -0-                   -0-                   26,431,927               
Interest 10,844,248        -0-                   10,844,248        -0-                   2,045               -0-                   10,846,293               

Total operating expenses 557,862,755      26,494,625        584,357,380      1,845,614         8,130,368         (11,809,987)       582,523,375             

Income (loss) from operations 51,998,031        4,780,680         56,778,711        (68,765)             2,397,354         -0-                   59,107,300               

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment return, net (38,572,098)       707                  (38,571,391)       -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   (38,571,391)              
Other 1,112,707         -0-                   1,112,707         -0-                   -0-                   (1,228,066)        (115,359)                  

Total non-operating gains (losses) (37,459,391)       707                  (37,458,684)       -0-                   -0-                   (1,228,066)        (38,686,750)              

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses 14,538,640$      4,781,387$        19,320,027$      (68,765)$           2,397,354$        (1,228,066)$       20,420,550$             
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Total
Union Union Total Union Hospital, Inc.

Hospital Hospital Union and
Terre Haute Clinton Hospital, Inc. COH UHT, LLC Eliminations Subsidiaries

Operating revenue
Net patient service revenue 528,187,939$    33,292,345$      561,480,284$    1,593,646$        -0-$                 -0-$                 563,073,930$           
Other revenue 32,785,744 555,478 33,341,222        -0-                   11,122,231        (12,533,148)       31,930,305               

Total operating revenue 560,973,683      33,847,823        594,821,506      1,593,646         11,122,231        (12,533,148)       595,004,235             

Operating expenses
Physician, mid-level, and other provider salaries and wages 16,969,513 545,081 17,514,594        -0-                   5,794,604         -0-                   23,309,198               
Other salaries and wages 122,146,846 8,062,768 130,209,614      -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   130,209,614             
Employee benefits 31,614,489 1,873,706 33,488,195        -0-                   762,937            -0-                   34,251,132               
Medical supplies and drugs 113,819,088 1,960,361         115,779,449      231,357            -0-                   -0-                   116,010,806             
Physician services 27,190,754 1,943,740 29,134,494        -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   29,134,494               
Contract services 72,809,366 2,256,649 75,066,015        1,449,987         836,139            (1,410,917)        75,941,224               
Rent and leases 7,616,257 374,287 7,990,544         4,427               -0-                   -0-                   7,994,971                
Utilities, supplies, and other 44,346,337 2,779,306 47,125,643        239,564            242,582            (11,122,231)       36,485,558               
Hospital assessment fee 10,434,683 1,509,206 11,943,889        -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   11,943,889               
Depreciation and amortization 24,770,652 1,114,020 25,884,672        4,284               -0-                   -0-                   25,888,956               
Interest 11,293,933 -0-                   11,293,933        -0-                   876                  -0-                   11,294,809               

Total operating expenses 483,011,918      22,419,124        505,431,042      1,929,619         7,637,138         (12,533,148)       502,464,651             

Income (loss) from operations 77,961,765        11,428,699        89,390,464        (335,973)           3,485,093         -0-                   92,539,584               

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment return, net 21,420,738 845 21,421,583        -0-                   -0-                   -0-                   21,421,583               
Other 1,883,191 -0-                   1,883,191         -0-                   -0-                   (1,367,242)        515,949                   

Total non-operating gains (losses) 23,303,929        845 23,304,774        -0-                   -0-                   (1,367,242)        21,937,532               

Excess of revenue over (under) expenses 101,265,694$    11,429,544$      112,695,238$    (335,973)$         3,485,093$        (1,367,242)$       114,477,116$           
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Union Health
Mortgagor Other Activities System

Land and improvements 35,817,203$             4,119,572$               39,936,775$             
Buildings and fixed equipment 422,784,996             7,224,889                430,009,885             
Movable equipment 225,034,992             -0-                          225,034,992             

683,637,191             11,344,461               694,981,652             

Less allowances for depreciation 408,402,825             8,587,639                416,990,464             

Construction in progress 2,646,785                -0-                          2,646,785                

Total property and equipment, net 277,881,151$           2,756,822$               280,637,973$           
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Board of Directors 
Union Health System, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Terre Haute, Indiana 
 
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, and Guidelines for Examination of Entities Receiving 
Financial Assistance from Governmental Sources, issued by the Indiana State Board of Accounts, the 
consolidated financial statements of Union Health System, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the System), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations and changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated  
April 20, 2023. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
System's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the System’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
System’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the System’s consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the System’s consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the System’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the System’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
Indianapolis, Indiana 
April 20, 2023 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM 

AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Union Health System, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Terre Haute, Indiana 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Union Health System, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ (the System) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could 
have a direct and material effect on each of the System’s major federal programs for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. The System’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, the System complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to 
above is that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide 
a legal determination of the System’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
System’s federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the System’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will 
always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 
resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about the System’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal 
program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the System’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of the System’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report 
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the System's internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a 
type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
Indianapolis, Indiana 
April 20, 2023 
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Assistance Federal
Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/Program Grant ID # Listing # Expenditures
Major programs

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Mortgage Insurance - Hospitals Section 242 * 073-22274, 073-22333 14.128 285,005,967$          

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
COVID-19 - Provider Relief Fund N/A 93.498 6,646,349               

Total major programs 291,652,316            

Non-major programs
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Healthy Start Initiative H49MC32727 93.926 1,120,381               

COVID-19 - Uninsured COVID Testing and Treatment N/A 93.461 297,862                  

COVID-19 - Rural Health Clinic Testing N/A 93.697 26,150                   

Rural Health Care Services Outreach, Rural Health Network Development
and Small Health Care Provider Quality Improvement

Rural Health Clinic Vaccine Confidence Program G29RH43171 93.912 118,486                  
Planning Grant I-Smile P10RH45775 93.912 28,861                   

Total 93.912 147,347                  

Federal Communications Commission
COVID-19 - Telehealth Program GRA0013543 32.006 57,990                   

Total non-major programs 1,649,730               
Total federal expenditures 293,302,046$          

 
 

* The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development – Mortgage Insurance for Hospital’s loan 
program continues to have compliance requirements. The amount noted as federal expenditures 
represents the remaining outstanding loan balance at the beginning of the year. The balance of loans 
outstanding under this program at December 31, 2022 are: 
 

Outstanding 
Assistance Balance at

Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/Program Grant ID # Listing # December 31, 2022
Major program

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Mortgage Insurance - Hospitals Section 242 073-22274, 073-22333 14.128 274,325,872$          
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1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (SEFA) includes the federal award activity 
of the System under programs of the federal government for the year ended December 31, 2022.  
The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code  
of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the SEFA presents only a selected portion 
of the operations of the System, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes 
in net assets, or cash flows of the System. 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Expenditures reported on the SEFA are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of 
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. The System has elected not to use the 
10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 
 
3. SUB-RECIPIENT PASS THROUGH 
 
There were no entities that received pass-through federal awards from the Union Health System, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries (the System) during the year ended December 31, 2022. 
 
4. PROVIDER RELIEF FUNDS 
 
Under terms and conditions of the Provider Relief Funds (PRF) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act and the American Rescue Plan Act, the System is required to report 
COVID-19 related expenses and lost revenue to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). 
Guidance from HHS has required the reporting of the COVID-19 related expenses and lost revenue in 
certain reporting periods based on when the funds were received. 
 
The 2022 SEFA includes PRF of approximately $6,646,000 which was received by the System during 2021. 
HHS required these PRF amounts be reported on the 2022 SEFA rather than the 2021 SEFA. The System 
recognized approximately $12,425,000 as revenue in its 2021 consolidated statement of operations and 
changes in net assets as the terms and conditions of the PRF grant were satisfied by the System during 
2021. As of December 31, 2021, no amount was recorded as a refundable advance liability on the 
consolidated balance sheet. During 2022, the System received PRF of approximately $904,000.  
HHS requires these PRF amounts be reported on the 2023 SEFA rather than the 2022 SEFA. The System 
recognized approximately $904,000 as revenue in its 2022 consolidated statement of operations and 
changes in net assets as the terms and conditions of the PRF grant were satisfied by the System during 
2022. As of December 31, 2022, no amount was recorded as a refundable advance liability on the 
consolidated balance sheet. 
 
5. FAIR MARKET VALUE OF DONATED PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (UNAUDITED) 
 
The System has determined that the fair value of donated personal protective equipment (PPE) received 
during 2022 was immaterial to the consolidated financial statements. The donated PPE was not 
considered for purposes of determining the threshold for Uniform Guidance determination of major 
programs and is not required to be audited as a major program. 
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Summary of Auditor's Results

Consolidated Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? yes x none reported

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are 
not considered to be material weakness(es)? yes x none reported

   Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes x none reported

Federal Awards

Internal controls over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? yes x none reported

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are 
not considered to be material weakness(es)? yes x none noted

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported as defined by Uniform Guidance
[2 CFR 200.516(a)]? yes x no

Identification of major program:

Assistance Listing Numbers Name of Federal Programs or Clusters
14.128 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

Mortgage Insurance - Hospitals Section 242 

93.498 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
COVID-19 - Provider Relief Fund

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
  type A and B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? x yes no

Section II – Findings related to financial statements reported in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards :

No matters reported

Section III – Findings and questioned costs relating to Federal awards:

No matters reported

Section IV – Summary schedule of prior audit findings:

Not applicable

Unmodified

Unmodified

750,000$              

 


